2007

# Kanab City v. Jeff Popowich : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann.

§ 78-2a-3(2)(e), and Utah R. App. P. 3(a).

**ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Did the court fail to dismiss the charges against the Defendant at the end of the City's evidence when the Defendant moved for dismissal for failure of the City to make a *prima facie* case against the Defendant?

2. Did the court fail to rule correctly on the constitutionality of the Kanab City Ordinance?

Issue 1 is an issue of law. Therefore, the Court gives no deference to the findings of the

district court. Issue 2 is an interpretation of a statute, which is a question of law that this Court reviews for correctness. *Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc.*, 935 P.2d 518, 519 (Utah 1997).

### **PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUE**

Issue 1 as to the preservation of the claim that the City had not made a *prima facie* case as against the Defendant was made at the close of the City's witnesses, after the City had rested. (See Transcript, ¶¶ 22 and 23.)

Issue 2 was preserved in the trial court at the same point in the record. (See Transcript, ¶¶ 22-27.)

### **CITATIONS TO DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES OR CASES**

- A. Kanab City Ordinance Chapters 13-200 et al. (See Addendum 2.)
- B. United States Constitution, 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment. (See Addendum 3.)
- C. Utah Constitution, Article I, Sections 1, 7, 12, 24 and 27. (See Addendum 4.)

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Defendant was initially charged with four counts of no dog license and one count of an illegal dog kennel on May 8, 2006. The Defendant entered a plea of guilty in the Kane County Justice Court on January 3, 2007. The Defendant then filed a Notice of Appeal de novo to the Sixth District Court on January 5, 2007. The case came to trial de novo in the district court on May 11, 2007. The trial was a bench trial due to the fact that the cases were filed as infractions.

The facts that are material to the consideration of the issues regarding the sufficiency of evidence are that Mr. Popowich, in 2005, had a license for his two dogs at his residence in Kane County, Utah. In 2006, no license was issued. Notices went to Mr. Popowich, but as of April 2006 he had not applied for licenses for his two dogs. In April of 2006, Cecil Campbell, the Animal

Control Officer received an anonymous phone call reporting dogs barking at the Defendant's address. Officer Campbel went to the address and observed through the front window inside the home four dogs. Officer Campbel never spoke with the Defendant, he did not observe the residence on any other date and cited the Defendant for four counts of failure to license the four dogs he observed, as well as citing him for an illegal kennel. These facts were testified to by Officer Campbel at bench trial. At the end of the City's evidence, the defense moved for a dismissal for the failure of the City to make a *prima facie* showing under the Kanab City Ordinance. The court did not rule on the issue there, but reserved it and required the defense go forward with its case. The Defendant then took the stand and testified that some of the dogs that were in the home were not his animals, and that he was not keeping a kennel, but merely dog sitting for a friend on the date that Officer Campbel observed the dogs in his home. At the end of the evidence, the Defendant moved the court find him not guilty and also argued the Ordinance was unconstitutional. The court took the matter under advisement and issued its Memorandum Decision on June 8, 2007. Sentencing on the case was held September 7, 2007.

### **MARSHALING**

The following evidence supports the court's findings in the case. Mr. Campbel, an animal control officer employed by Kanab City, was called in December of 2005 by an anonymous caller complaining of barking dogs and an illegal kennel at the Defendant's home at 213 East 330 North in Kanab. (See Transcript at ¶ 10.) Officer Campbel went and checked out the situation and observed four dogs on two different dates in December, those dogs being a Rottweiler, a Shepherd and two mixed breeds, specifically a black-and-white and a tri-color. These dogs were observed through the front window of the Defendant's home. (See Transcript at ¶ 11.) The Officer was able

to estimate the age of the dogs to be over one year old. (See Transcript at ¶¶ 12, 17 and 18.) In January of 2006, Officer Campbel sent out a notice to all residents who had previously owned dogs to come in and register them. (See Transcript at ¶ 13.) Officer Campbel also sent a follow up notice in February of 2006 for all those who had not yet complied. (See Transcript at ¶ 14.) Mr. Campbel then put a warning on the Defendant's door requiring him to comply. That notice told him he was in violation of having more dogs than he was allowed and having an illegal kennel and unlicensed dogs. (See Transcript at ¶¶ 14-16.) Evidence was then admitted that the Defendant had licensed two dogs in 2005, one being a Shepherd and the other being a Rottweiler. (See Transcript at ¶ 15, lines 11-19.) The witness testified he saw the same four dogs in the Defendant's window on the subsequent months of January, February, March and April of 2006. (See Transcript at ¶ 16, lines 1-6.) Defendant was then cited for the charges that are the topic of this appeal on April 13, 2006. (See Transcript at ¶ 16, lines 16-17.) The City then put into evidence a current dog license list that was accurate on August 15, 2006, upon which the Defendant's dogs were not listed. (See Transcript at ¶ 17, lines 15-21.)

Defendant took the stand and in his testimony indicated that he did not apply for the kennel license in 2006. (See Transcript at ¶ 35, lines 20-23.) He also testified that he did not license his dogs in the year 2006. (See Transcript at ¶ 35, lines 24-25, ¶ 36, lines 1-9 and ¶ 37, lines 5-11.) (See Addendum 5, Mr. Popowich's testimony.)

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

### Issue 1

Did the court fail to dismiss the charges against the Defendant at the end of the City's evidence when the Defendant moved for dismissal for failure of the City to make a *prima facie* case

against the Defendant? The City in its case, introduced evidence that the animal control officer, Mr. Campbel, observed four dogs at the Defendant's home in the months of January, February, March and April. Those observations were made on one day each of those months. In other words, Officer Campbel observed those dogs on one day in January, one day in February, one day in March and one day in April.

The statute requires that an animal is "harbored" if it is fed or sheltered for three consecutive days or more under the statute's definition of owner. The City did not provide any evidence on this element in its case in chief, nor did the City prove that the dogs were not exempt under the seeing eye dog, hearing dog, or dogs specifically trained to assist officials of government agencies exception. The City did not prove that the dogs that were observed by the Officer were property of a non-resident temporarily within the city for thirty days or less. Nor did they prove that the dogs were not brought in to the city for participating in a show or event. In the City's case in chief, they failed to meet the *prima facie* evidence for any of the five counts upon which the Defendant was ultimately convicted.

## Issue 2

Did the court fail to rule correctly on the constitutionality of the Kanab City Ordinance in that the court did not even analyze the Ordinance as requested by counsel at trial. The City contended that, due to the four dogs that Officer Campbel saw in Mr. Popowich's residence, that he was operating a kennel and he was cited for that. Therefore, if the Defendant is to be found guilty of not having a kennel permit, the permit sections of the City Ordinance would be applicable to the Defendant. The terms and restrictions of the Ordinances regarding kennels are both vague and overbroad in that there is vagueness in the meaning of what the Ordinance requires, and a possible

difference as to application. It is also not narrowly drawn to protect a compelling state interest.

## **ARGUMENT I**

Kanab City Ordinance, Chapter 13-200.01.010 Definitions, has the term “owner” defined as: “‘Owner’ means any person, partnership or corporation, owning, keeping or harboring one or more animals. An animal shall be deemed to be harbored if it is fed or sheltered for three consecutive days or more.”

The terms person, partnership and corporation are not defined, but clearly refer to the commonly understood annotations and connotations of those words. The definition of harboring, however, is specifically spelled out. It requires that an animal be fed or sheltered for three consecutive days or more.

The Plaintiff’s case in chief indicated through testimony that the Officer Campbel did observe four animals of essentially the same description on one day each in the months of January through April of 2006. However, there is no evidence, even in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, that Mr. Campbel came to Mr. Popowich’s residence on three or more consecutive days in any period of time ever. In the City’s case in chief, there was evidence that Mr. Popowich did license two animals meeting the general description of a Rottweiler and a Shepherd or a Shepherd mix in 2005 and 2007. (See Addendum 6, Mr. Campbel’s testimony.) However, no evidence was ever provided that the four dogs observed did not meet any of the exceptions under Ordinance, Chapter 13-200.02.010, Licensing. Notably, under paragraph five the Ordinance reads: “The provisions of this section shall not apply to dogs whose owners are nonresidents temporarily within the city for thirty (30) days or less, nor to dogs brought into the city for the purpose of participation in any show or event.”

Chapter 13-200.02.010(F)(1) states: “a. Seeing eye dogs properly trained to assist in blind persons, if such dogs are actually being used by blind persons to assist them in moving from place to place. b. Hearing dogs properly trained to assist deaf persons if such dogs are actually used by deaf persons to aid them in responding to an auditory stimulus. c. Dogs specifically trained to assist officials of governmental agencies in the performance of their duties and which are owned by such agencies.”

No evidence was submitted by the City that any of these exceptions did not apply. In fact, Mr. Campbel is also the meter reader for the City and he testified that he read the water meters once a month on the dates where he went to the Defendant’s residence to read the meter. (See Transcript at ¶ 19, lines 1-11.)

As to Count 5, violation of the kennel permit, the Ordinance Chapter 13-200.04.010 states: “Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, no more than two (2) dogs and/or three (3) cats which are three (3) months of age or older shall be kept at any residence at any time.” There is no definition in the definitions section of the Ordinance as to what defines a residence. However, Chapter 13-200.04.020, Permit Required, indicates that a kennel cannot be run except as laid out in the application terms provided thereafter in the Ordinance. The definition in Chapter 13-200.01.010 states: “‘Private Kennel’ means any residential premises where more than two dogs and/or three cats are raised, kept, housed; or any residential premises wherein any person engages in the business of breeding, buying, letting for hire, training for a fee or selling dogs or cats.”

The evidence in the case was the prosecution under the first part of the chapter of private kennel, a residential premise where more than two dogs. . . are raised, kept or housed. There is no definition of raised, kept or housed. However, in reading the Ordinance as a whole, there is a

definition of harboring that is defined under owner which has been discussed *supra*.

Chapter 13-200.04.020(3)(a) states: “A private kennel shall be located in a Residential Agricultural (RA) District, with a conditional use permit and shall not exceed more than three (3) dogs per acre. The location where the dogs or cats are kept, raised or housed, just be 200 feet away from any neighboring house, and must be 150 feet from any road.” The City introduced no evidence as to the legal ownership of the home or building at 213 East 330 North in Kanab. Nor was any evidence introduced as to the acreage of the home or the property described, nor is there any information as to whether it was 200 feet away from a neighboring house, nor if it was 150 feet away from any road.

The City argued that no application was ever filed so a conditional use permit could not be obtained, but that is merely circular logic. The requirement of the City is that they prove all elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. They must prove that the address indicated in their evidence has 1.3 acres of land and that where the dogs were kept, raised, or housed must have been 200 feet away from a neighboring home and 150 feet from any road. It is not clear from the City’s evidence as to what type of structure this residence is. The residence could be anything from a one room shack or single-wide mobile home, to a multi-story mansion. In fact, the City never even proved that it was a residence, or that any people even lived in the home. It is clear it was used as a mailing address, that there was a water meter, a window and perhaps a couch on which the dogs stood, but beyond that no evidence was put before the court.

The standard of review has been laid out in *State v. Krueger*, 975 P.2d 489 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) and *State v. Hirschi*, 2007 UT App 255.

When a party moves for a directed verdict based on a claim of insufficiency of the

evidence, we will uphold the trial court's decision if, upon reviewing the evidence and all inferences that can be reasonably drawn from it, we conclude that some evidence exists from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of the crime had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

The court has held in *Spanish Fork City v. Bryan*, 975 P.2d 501 (Utah 1999), that:

When reviewing a bench trial for sufficiency of evidence, we must sustain the trial court's judgment unless it is against the clear weight of the evidence, or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made." *State v. Layman*, 953 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App.) (Citations and quotation marks omitted), cert. Granted, No. 980150-SC (Utah 1998). However, "before we can uphold a conviction it must be supported by a quantum of evidence concerning each element of the crime as charged from which the [factfinder] may base its Conclusion of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Murphy*, 617 P.2d 399, 402 (Utah 1980). In addition, "[a] guilty verdict is not leally valid if it is based solely on inferences that give rise to only remote or speculative possibilities of guilt." *State v. Workman*, 852 P.2d 981, 985 (Utah 1993).

This standard has also been cited in cases from this Court since that time. See *State v. Larsen*, 999 P.2d 1252 (Utah 2000), *State v. Piep*, 84 P.3d 850 (Utah Ct. App. 2004), *Bountiful City v. Stewart*, 2006 UT App 483.

In this case it is clear that on the four counts of no city dog license, the City failed to prove every element of the crime. The court had not enough evidence from which a reasonable jury could find the elements of a crime had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The elements are that it is unlawful for 1) any person, 2) own, keep or harbor, 3) a dog, 4) over the age of three months, 5) within the city limits of this city, 6) without making application for that purpose and paying the city an annual registration fee.

The City presented no evidence as to which person was involved here. Officer Campbel never spoke to any person at the residence, ever. His interaction was picking up an anonymous phone call about barking dogs and violation of the kennel law, looking in a window at a residence

at this address and reading the meter at that address. There was no evidence in the Plaintiff's case as to the ownership of two of the dogs, the dogs unlicensed by Mr. Popowich in 2006, but licensed in 2005 and 2007. No evidence of keeping the dogs was submitted, nor of harboring the dogs (referring back to the City's own definition of harboring being three consecutive days).

Although there is evidence for reasonable inferences on the other elements, i.e. age of the dog, no application being made and being within the limits of Kanab City, all elements must have proof beyond a reasonable doubt or some evidence that a jury could infer that this crime was committed. In those four charges in the City's evidence on its case in chief, no evidence was submitted. Therefore, directed verdict should have been granted.

As to the fifth count, illegal kennel, elements to be proven are 1) except as otherwise provided in this chapter, 2) no more than two dogs, 3) which are three months of age or older, 4) shall be kept at any residence, 5) at any time. The Ordinance indicates that through statutory construction we are to review the entire Chapter 13 of the Kanab City Ordinances as one document and that there are exceptions. Notably the exceptions that were pointed out in the licensing ordinance discussed *supra*.

Again, on element 1) except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, the City provided no evidence as to that element. As to element 2) no more than two dogs, and element 3) which are three months of age or older, there is evidence that could go to a jury and that could be considered by a trier of fact on those elements. The other elements of 4) shall be kept at any residence, again refer to the arguments made herein above that there was insufficient or non-existent evidence that the Defendant kept these animals and that this address is, or was, a residence. Wherefore, the trial court erred in not granting directed verdict on this count as well.

## ARGUMENT II

Did the court fail to rule correctly on the constitutionality of the Kanab City Ordinance? In the court's written memorandum decision from which this Defendant appeals, the court stated that "generally a law may be challenged for vagueness either 1) on its face, or 2) as applied to the facts of a particular case." See *State v. Green*, 99 P.3d 820, 831 (Utah 2004). Here the Defendant cannot argue that the Ordinance is vague on its face because the Ordinance (specifically Chapter 13-200.04 Kennels) does not implicate constitutionally protected conduct. Id. Thus, the Ordinance must be vague as applied to the facts of this case to be unconstitutional. A vagueness challenge means that those who are trying to enforce and/or interpret the law, are left to guess at its meaning and differ as to its application. An ordinance needs to be narrowly drawn to protect a compelling state interest.

There seems to be no compelling state interest involved in the arbitrary drawing of lines as to how many dogs one residence may contain. There is perhaps a health interest in that the government does not want, for the health and welfare for residents in home, there to exist too many animals in one small area which may cause health or sanitation issues for the people in that residence. This, however, is not a compelling state interest. An as applied challenge asserts that under the facts of this particular case, the statute was applied in an unconstitutional manner. See *State v. Ansari*, 100 P.3d 231 (internal citations omitted) (Utah Ct. App. 2004). "It is the application of the (challenged statutes) to defendants by law enforcement officials we review in an 'as applied' examination. Defendants may not generalize beyond the conduct with which they are charged." See *United States v. LaHue*, 261 F.3d 993, 1007 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001). An as applied challenge "asks only that the reviewing court declare the challenged statute or regulation unconstitutional on the facts of the particular case." See *Sanjour v. EPA*, 56 F.3d 85, 92n. 10 (D.C. Cir. 1995).

Therefore, we must analyze the facts of this particular case in light of the statute.

The court held that the Defendant never applied for a license and was not facing inspections, so it is impossible to analyze whether the subsection about inspections is vague as applied to the facts in this case. Then the court promptly moved on to other issues in this case not relating to the constitutionality argument.

Two levels of the as applied challenge exist in these facts. First, as pointed out previously, there is no definition of residence in the statute. Even in the light and inferences most favorable to the City, no evidence was provided that Mr. Popowich used this address as a residence. No evidence was submitted that this is a residentially zoned area and, even given that, the Ordinance states that “not more than two dogs shall be kept at any residence at any time.” The court refused to read this Chapter as a whole which Mr. Popowich believes the court should have done on Defendant’s testimony on direct exam. His evidence about the ownership of the other dogs would prevent him from still being prosecuted under this Ordinance. Under a strict liability statute, there is no wording of a mental intent, the standard type of knowing, intentional, or reckless. Even the court during the trial observed this issue stating: “Where does your definition say if the dog’s at your house, you’re the owner of it?” (See Transcript at ¶ 30, lines 6-7.) The court observed this statute had a problem in that if someone brought their dog into your home, you could be considered the owner of it. Again, vagueness means that we have to guess at its meaning and reasonable people may differ as to its application. Here the City guessed that its meaning was that since Mr. Popowich’s girlfriend brought over her two dogs at some point on various days or dates that were not set out, the total number of dogs within that residence was to be applied to Mr. Popowich. It could just as easily been applied to his girlfriend or anybody else inside the home at the time yet only he was charged. Therefore, this

statute, by the very arguments that were made before the court and the responses the court made to counsel shows that it is vague as applied.

### **CONCLUSION**