2007

# Kanab City v. Jeff Popowich : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mr. Popowich's appeal challenges the trial court's conclusions that the City's animal ordinances are constitutional and were properly applied to him under the facts of this case. While Mr. Popowich challenges the trial court's factual findings, he does so in a legally insufficient way. He has failed to marshal all of the evidence in favor of the court's findings and, more significantly, failed to demonstrate that those findings are flawed in light of the marshaled evidence. Having failed the marshaling requirement, Mr. Popowich lacks any basis for challenging those findings.

The constitutional challenges raised by Mr. Popowich fail on several counts. There is no constitutionally protected interest in the ownership or keeping of dogs. Therefore, no due process concern, including that of vagueness, is presented by the ordinances at issue here. Moreover, the ordinances are not vague. It is clear on their face that: 1) Mr. Popowich is required to license his dogs and failure to do so may result in prosecution; and 2) maintaining more than two dogs on a residential premise requires a kennel license and failure to obtain the license may result in prosecution. Whether, as alleged by Mr. Popowich, the kennel license provisions may be unconstitutional as applied to him or others is a question which is not properly before this Court because that issue is not ripe and not justiciable because he did not apply for a kennel license.

Mr. Popowich did not license any of the four dogs kept on his premises in 2006. The trial court properly concluded that Mr. Popowich had violated the licensing requirement. Mr. Popowich, by his own testimony, established that the four dogs were kept on the premises for more than the three-day period provided by the ordinance. Therefore, as a matter of statutory construction, Mr. Popowich violated the kennel licensing requirements. Whether those requirements may be unconstitutionally vague as applied to others is an issue Mr. Popowich lacks standing to raise.

The factual conclusions of the trial court are not really in dispute in this matter, partially due to the failure to adequately marshal the evidence, but also because the facts are undisputed. The trial court's legal conclusions are correct as a matter of law. The decision of the trial court should, therefore, be affirmed.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. MR. POPOWICH HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL ALL OF THE EVIDENCE TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS.**

Utah courts have always imposed a significant burden to marshal the evidence supporting a trial court's findings in order to challenge the findings on appeal.

To mount a successful attack upon a trial court's findings of fact, an applicant must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below. In other words, an appellant who challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a finding of fact has the burden of combing the record for and compiling all of the evidence that supports the finding of fact and explaining why that evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding of fact.

Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Mfg. Corp., 2002 UT 94, ¶ 21, 54 P.3d 1177, 1183

(emphasis added). Selective citation of some or most of the facts is insufficient.

State v. Waldron, 2002 UT App 175, ¶ 15, 52 P.3d 21, 23. *See also* Rule 24(a)(9),

Utah R. App. P. (requiring marshaling of all record evidence). To satisfy the

marshaling requirement, a party must “present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists.” Chen v. Stewart 2004 UT 82, ¶ 77, 100 P.3d 1177, 1195 (emphasis added, citation omitted).

Mr. Popowich has failed to carry his marshaling burden in two respects. He has not marshaled all of the evidence. One example of this failure is particularly egregious because it supports the conclusion that the two dogs allegedly belonging to his girlfriend were in the Popowich residence for more than three days.

Q. Okay. Ah, were her dogs ever there, ah, three or more days at a time?

A. Yes.

(Tr. 37:17-19.)

Mr. Popowich’s second failure is that he merely makes his marshaling statement without giving any indication which findings might be supported by the evidence and demonstrating that the evidence is insufficient as to any particular finding by failing to “ferret out the fatal flaw in the evidence.” West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah 1991).

Given the failure to meet the significant marshaling burden, this Court “need not consider the challenge to the sufficiency of the findings.” Tanner v. Carter, 2001

UT 18, ¶ 17, 20 P.3d 332, 336.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DECLINED TO GRANT MR. POPOWICH'S MOTION TO DISMISS.**

Mr. Popowich maintains that the City failed to establish prima facie violations of the ordinances at issue. In doing so, he argues that the City was essentially required to prove several negatives at trial, specifically that the City must show that the dogs do not fall within exceptions to the ordinances to establish a prima facie case of violation of those ordinances. That simply is not the law in Utah. *See State v. Smith*, 2005 UT 57, ¶ 19, 122 P.3d 615, 621 (noting that the law does not often impose upon the prosecution the burden to prove a negative). The *Smith* court concluded that exemptions from laws are typically construed as affirmative defenses which the defendant must prove rather than having the prosecution disprove. *Id.* *See also State v. Ansari*, 2004 UT App 326, ¶ 10 100 P.3d 231, 235 (holding that the State need not “affirmatively prove absence of attempt, conspiracy, and solicitation” to establish a prima facie case). *State v. Swenson*, 838 P.2d 1136, 1138 (Utah 1992) (holding that the defendant had the initial burden to establish that he was eligible for an exemption from security laws); *State v. Knoll*, 712 P.2d 211, 214 (Utah 1985) (holding that self defense is a justification for killing but that the prosecution was not required to establish lack of self defense to establish a prima

facie case).

By the close of the City's case, the evidence established without doubt that Mr. Popowich licensed his two dogs in 2005 and 2007, but did not license them in 2006 and still kept the dogs in his home. That evidence established a prima facie showing of violation of the licensing ordinance. There was, therefore, no basis for dismissing that part of the action.

Arguably, at that point in the trial, the presence of the dogs for three consecutive days had not been established. That, however, is not significant for two reasons. First, Mr. Popowich moved to dismiss all of the charges, not just the charges of operating an illegal kennel. Given that a significant portion of the charges had been established (4 of the 5 counts in the information), and absent a more specific motion to dismiss, the trial court properly declined to grant dismissal at that time.

Secondly, however, the trial court's ultimate ruling did not rely on the three-day requirement for harboring, even though that was eventually established by testimony from Mr. Popowich.<sup>2</sup> The trial court concluded that "there is a prima

---

<sup>2</sup>The trial court incorrectly found that there was "no evidence that the Defendant sheltered the dogs for three consecutive days or more." (R. 39; *See* Tr. 37:17-18.) That error, however, is harmless.

facie showing that the Defendant kept the dogs.” (Memorandum Decision, R. 39.)

It was appropriate for the trial court to defer the ruling on the motion to dismiss. The charge of failing to license the additional dogs was supported by the evidence. As a result, there was no basis for its dismissal en masse with the other charges, as requested by Mr. Popowich.

### **III. MR. POPOWICH HAS FAILED TO CARRY HIS BURDEN TO ESTABLISH THAT THE ORDINANCES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.**

“It is a basic principle that legislative enactments are endowed with a strong presumption of validity.” State v. Mohi, 901 P.2d 991, 1009 (Utah 1995). “The burden of successfully challenging the constitutionality of a statute is on the appellant, and this burden is a heavy one.” *Id.* Mr. Popowich simply has not carried the heavy burden to establish unconstitutionality of the ordinances.

Mr. Popowich provides a muddled analysis of the constitutional issues which he attempts to establish. What is discernable from his argument is that he is basing his claim on alleged vagueness of the ordinances. The claim of vagueness is a due process claim.

In order to establish that statutes are so vague that they violate due process, a defendant must demonstrate either (1) that the statutes do not provide the kind of notice that enables ordinary people to understand what conduct is prohibited, or (2) that the

statutes encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. And where, as here, a defendant's claim does not concern an alleged infringement of a First Amendment right, the defendant must first show that the statute is vague as applied to his conduct, before he can attempt to show that the statute is vague in all of its applications. This means that a defendant may not complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to others if its language affords the defendant adequate notice that his conduct was proscribed.

State v. Ross, 2007 UT 89, ¶ 27, 174 P.3d 628, 633 (punctuation, citations omitted.) Mr. Popowich has failed to satisfy the requirements for demonstrating a vagueness/due process claim.

The threshold issue in a substantive due process challenge is whether a plaintiff has identified a property interest subject to constitutional protections. Where a plaintiff fails to provide an identifiable, constitutionally protected property interest, he fails to state a claim for due process violations. Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565, 572-73, 95 S. Ct. 729, 735, 42 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1975); Bd. of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 569-70, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 2705, 33 L. Ed. 2d 548 (1972). If a sufficient property interest is demonstrated, substantive due process claims are limited to determining whether the governmental action is arbitrary, without a rational basis, or shocks the conscience. Tonkovich v. Kansas Bd. of Regents, 159 F.3d 504, 528 (10th Cir. 1998).

Where there is no constitutionally protected property interest restricted by the ordinance or the convictions under the ordinance, it is inappropriate for the court to consider an asserted facial challenge. State v. Holm, 2006 UT 31, ¶ 77, 137 P.3d 726, 747. Because there is no protected property interest involved here, Mr. Popowich's vagueness challenge is a limited as-applied challenge. *Id.* (noting that "[a] plaintiff who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed [by statute] cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others." (citation omitted)).

The U.S. Supreme Court has long treated ownership of dogs as only a qualified property right. "Even if it were assumed that dogs are property in the fullest sense of the word, they would still be subject to the police power of the state, and might be destroyed or otherwise dealt with, as in the judgment of the legislature is necessary for the protection of its citizens." Sentell v. New Orleans & C.R. Co., 166 U.S. 698, 704, 17 S. Ct. 693, 695, 41 L. Ed. 1169 (1897). Citing Sentell, the Supreme court later concluded that "[p]roperty in dogs is of an imperfect or qualified nature and they may be subjected to peculiar and drastic police regulations by the state without depriving their owners of any federal right." Nicchia v. New York, 254 U.S. 228, 230, 41 S. Ct. 103, 65 L. Ed. 2d 235 (1920). As a result,

there is no constitutionally protected property interest which is impacted by regulation of dog ownership or possession.

More recently, the South Dakota Supreme Court has observed that “[in almost all jurisdictions, municipal power to regulate animals kept as pets is broadly construed.” City of Marion v. Schoenwald, 631 N.W.2d 213, 217 (S.D. 2001). “Restrictions on the aggregate number of dogs in households are commonly upheld against constitutional attacks.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

In City of Marion, the City ordinance limited households to owning four dogs, only two of which could weigh over 25 pounds. The plaintiff brought a substantive due process challenge to the weight restriction in the ordinance. The court reviewed the issue in the light of a broad legislative grant of police power to municipalities and the judicial deference which preclude courts from substituting their judgment for that of local decision makers. *Id.* at 216-17. The court noted that pet ordinances meet legitimate public safety objectives. *Id.* at 218. It concluded that legislating numbers of dogs over a certain weight was sufficiently related to public health and safety and that there was a rational relationship between the ordinance and the problems caused by large dogs. *Id.* at 218-19.

An ordinance restricting ownership to two dogs at one residence was at issue in Bal Harbour Village v. Welsh, 879 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. App. 2004). The primary challenge raised by the plaintiff in Welsh was a grandfathering argument, *i.e.*, that he owned more than two dogs before the ordinance was enacted and that it could not therefore be enforced against him. Applying a rational basis analysis, the court relied on the municipal police power to regulate and abate nuisances. The nuisance abatement discussion was based upon the procedural posture of the case. The ordinance was substantive and, therefore, could not be retroactively applied were it not for the exception for government enactments to abate nuisances. The court concluded that any property right in ownership of more than two dogs was properly compromised by police power regulations for health and welfare.

In Holt v. City of Sack Rapids, 559 N.W.2d 444 (Minn. App. 1997) *review denied*, the court dealt with ordinances regulating temporary housing of animals. The ordinance at issue was fairly liberal and the facts related to the plaintiffs were straightforward.

Respondent City of Sack Rapids passed ordinances in February and March 1995 limiting the number of dogs that can be kept on residential premises. The significant provisions of the ordinances are: (1) only two dogs over six months of age may be kept in one residential unit; (2) persons wishing to have three or four adult dogs in their residential unit may apply for a permit to do

so; and (3) anyone legally keeping more than four adult dogs on a residential premises on the effective date of the ordinance can obtain an exemption and retain those dogs, provided every owner of property within 100 feet of the dog owner's premises consents. Permits for keeping three or four dogs are obtainable on a showing that the dogs are licensed and vaccinated; testimony indicated that at least four such permits have been granted.

Holt at 444.

In responding to the constitutional challenge, the Holt court applied the rational basis scrutiny of due process challenges to health and safety ordinances. It rejected an argument that the City had failed to consider empirical evidence in reaching its legislative result. The court noted that “[it is at least debatable that limiting the number of dogs per residential unit is substantially related to controlling the problems of dog noise and odor, or to the health and general welfare of the community as affected by dogs.” Holt at 446. The court concluded that there was a rational relationship between the ordinance and dog problems. The plaintiffs then argued that there was no evidence that limiting the number of dogs would prevent noise and odor problems and that the real problem is that of owners and not the dogs. The court deferred to the City’s legislative judgment. “Neither the existence of alternative methods for resolving the dog problems nor a debate as to the best methods provides a basis for declaring ordinances unconstitutional.” *Id.* The court

then reviewed the number of cases upholding limits on numbers of dogs and cats.

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